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Mission

Vision

Strategy

To provide the highest levels of service and quality products available, in striving to 
ensure the success of our customers

To expand in new markets while maintaining a leadership position in 
established markets, while providing an energized and harmonious 

workplace for our employees

Through strong supplier relationships, we market and deliver great 
products to our customers with exceptional service; this drives our 

profitability and ensures our success
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Motto

Core Strengths

Customer Service Motto

Where service is just the Beginning

• INTEGRITY  • COMMITMENT  • GOING THE EXTRA MILE

We measure our effectiveness as a company by our ability to meet and exceed 
the expectations of our customers. We strive to ensure our professional team of 
representatives reflect this commitment. By building strong customer relationships, 
we promote our continued growth.
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notice of annual general meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of 

caribbean producers (Jamaica) Limited (the company) will be 

held at 3 p.m. on January 28, 2013 at sunset Beach Resort & spa, 

Montego Freeport, St. James for shareholders to consider and, if 

thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

1. To receive the report of the directors and the audited accounts of the company 

for the financial year ended  30th June 2012.

2. To authorize the directors to re-appoint KPMG as the auditors of the Company, 

and to fix their remuneration.

3. The following Directors of the Board, having resigned by rotation in accordance 

with the Articles of Incorporation of the company and being eligible, hereby offer 

themselves for re-election by the shareholders:

(a) To re-appoint Richard Hall as a Director of the company.

(b) To re-appoint Antony Hart as a Director of the company.

(c) To re-appoint Robert “Bob” Hooker as a Director of the company.

4. To declare the interim dividend paid on 20 June 2012 as final dividend for the year 

under review.

5. To fix the fees of the Directors.

Dated this 29th day of october 2012

By order of the Board

Theresa chin

company secretary

The following document accompanies the Notice of Annual General Meeting:

A form of proxy. A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting of the 
company may appoint one or more proxies to attend in his/her place. A proxy need not be a shareholder of 
the company. All completed original proxy forms must be deposited together with the power of attorney or 
other document accompanying the proxy at the registered office of the Company at least 48 hours before the 
Annual General Meeting. 



T A K I N G  F L I G H T4

C A R I B B E A N  P R O D U C E R S  J A M A I C A  L I M I T E D

CHAIRMAN &

caribbean producers Jamaica Limited (cpJ) continues to impress with its amazing 
track record of development and dynamism and has had a strong start in its first 
year as a publicly listed company. Our Net Profit has increased 177.5% to US$3.042 
Million, while earnings per share increased 133% to US$.28 cents.

During the year, we needed to fulfil the objectives which were the basis of our Initial Public Offering 

(Ipo). After an overwhelmingly successful listing in July 2011, we immediately set about establishing a 

modern Meat Processing plant at our Montego Bay headquarters which began operation in February of 

this year. After that, we started planning and working on our exciting CPJ Market Kingston store and 

rooftop bar, which will be opening before the end of the year. cpJ also recently signed a joint venture 

agreement with NAsDAQ listed American hygienic powerhouse, swisher chemical LLc and we look 

forward to growing this division in the coming year. In all, the focus for the year was to establish and 

execute the projects that we had raised the money for through the Ipo.

 

We have had a great year, notwithstanding the global economy being uncertain but we anticipate 

major challenges are ahead. our customers’ success is important to us and we will work even harder 

this year to ensure they receive the levels of service required to improve their operations.

 

A great deal of capital was invested last year with a focus on leveraging our investments to improve the 

company’s financial performance. We are undertaking extensive research and development for new 

products in the Meat processing plant; these products will give CPJ an opportunity to export Jamaican 

pork products throughout the region as well as introduce a new line of retail products for the local 
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CEO’S MESSAGE

consumer. This will have a major impact on advancing Jamaica’s pork producing industry. cpJ will also 

be expanding its consumer brands division through its heritage brands as well as seeking strategic 

acquisitions.  

 

our success didn’t come overnight. It emanates from the overwhelming support that we receive from 

our employees. We have several associates that have been with the company from the beginning, and 

they have been extremely open to the constant change that takes place while the company grows. This 

year we have shown our appreciation by building our new staff Wellness centre which houses a gym, 

a modern staff canteen and a garden terrace. 

We want caribbean producers Jamaica Limited to attract the most talented persons seeking work and 

so become the preferred place of employment in Jamaica.  

 

Going forward, we will continue to grow the company while maintaining the highest levels of service 

and productivity. our vision is to have cpJ’s brands become nationally recognized and associated with 

the finest products available to Jamaican consumers.

Mark Hart     Thomas Tyler
Chairman      President & CEO
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Board of
Directors

Thomas Tyler
Chief Executive Officer

Mark Hart
executive chairman

Thomas (Tom) Tyler is currently the Chief Executive Officer of Caribbean Produc-
ers with oversight responsibility for its day to day operations. He cofounded the 
Company in 1994 together with Mark Hart. Mr. Tyler also serves as President of 
Hospitality Services Unlimited, a company registered in the U.S. that engages in 
business with the Company.

Mr. Tyler was educated at the University of South Florida. He also has a degree in 
gemmology from the Gemmological Institute of America (GIA). Mr. Tyler began his 
career in business in 1977 at Ballow’s Jewellers in the United States and thereaf-
ter joined Caribbean Producers; a US based family company supplying furniture 
and equipment to the hospitality and hotel sectors across the Caribbean. While 
working there Mr. Tyler had the vision to create an integrated distribution company 
that led to his establishment of the Company with Mark Hart.  

Mark Hart is currently the Executive Chairman of the Company. He brings to the 
Company his considerable experience of management, having previously served 
as its Chief Executive Officer from 2004 until early in 2011 and is also the found-
ing and controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Hart began his career as 
the Managing Director of the Hart family’s group of companies in 1982, eventu-
ally becoming Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in 1997. Mr. Hart has also 
served as Chairman of Montego Bay Ice Company Limited, a JSE Main Market 
listed company.

Mr. Hart is a graduate of the University of Miami where he gained a Bachelor 
of Science degree in History and Motion Picture Film Production. He has also 
completed a programme in Executive Education with focus on accounting and 
planning at Columbia University of New York.  

Mr. Hart was formerly the Chairman of the Airports Authority of Jamaica as well 
as a member of the boards of the Tryall Club and the Montego Bay Yacht Club. In 
the past he has served as a Director of Dehring Bunting and Golding Limited (now 
Scotia Investments Limited), the American Chamber of Commerce of Jamaica, 
the Montego Bay Chamber of Commerce, amongst others. Mr. Hart recently 
produced a documentary film, “RiseUp”. He is married to Dr. Candace Hart and 
together they have 3 children: Maya, Ethan and Cameron.
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Richard Hall

Non-executive Director 
(appointed June 2011)

Theresa chin

Non-executive Director and 
company secretary  
(appointed september 2004)

Mark Hall

Independent  
Non-executive Director 
(appointed september 2011)
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Antony Hart, c.D., J.p

Non - executive Director

Antony (“Tony”) Hart is a prominent local 
businessman. A graduate of Munro Col-
lege, Mr. Hart is also the recipient of an 
honorary doctorate from the University 
of Technology, and has been honoured 
as a Commander of Distinction (C.D.) by 
the Government of Jamaica. 

Mr. Hart founded Records Limited, the 
first record manufacturing company in 
Jamaica in 1951. He is the past Chairman 
of Air Jamaica Limited (1980–1988) 
and the past Chairman and Managing 
Director of the Montego Freeport (1967– 
1980). Mr. Hart is also a past director 
of the Jamaica Industrial Development 
Corporation, the Bank of Nova Scotia 
Jamaica Limited, Caymanas Track 
Limited, and Blue Power Group, amongst 
others. He is currently a director of the 
Coconut Industry Board, Port Handlers 
Limited, Seprod Limited, Good Hope 
Holdings Limited, Harmonisation Limited 
and Cargo Handlers Limited. The latter 
company was admitted to trading on the 
Junior Market of the JSE in December 
2010.

Mr. Hart is married to Sheila Hart and 
together, they have 4 children includ-
ing the Chairman of the Company A. 
Mark Hart, Blaise Hart, Bruce Hart, and 
Wendy Schrager (nee Hart).

Theresa Chin is a graduate of York 
University, Toronto Canada where she 
gained a Bachelor of Science degree 
in Mathematics. Mrs. Chin has worked 
with the Hart family shareholders since 
1993. She is currently the Managing 
Director of Montego Bay Ice Company 
Limited, as well as acting as Financial 
Manager for most of the other Hart 
group companies (not including this 
Company). Prior to joining the Hart 
group of companies, Mrs. Chin worked 
as a financial analyst for the Four 
Seasons Hotel, Toronto, Canada, as a 
tax consultant for the Borough of East 
York, Toronto, Canada and as an audi-
tor at Deloitte & Touche.

As an Non – Executive member of the 
Board, Mrs. Chin will also serve on 
the Audit and Compensation Commit-
tees of the Board, both of which are 
required to be established under the 
Junior Market Rules for the purposes 
of good corporate governance. Mrs. 
Chin is also the Company Secretary.

Mr. Richard Hall is a consultant with Is-
landwide Project Management Limited, 
a company he established. He has over 
25 years experience in various manage-
ment roles in both the hotel and hospi-
tality industries.  As a consultant to the 
Company, Mr. Hall also brings to the 
Board his understanding of the opera-
tions of those industries as well as his 
technical culinary knowledge.

Mr. Hall holds an Associate in Occu-
pational Studies (A.O.S.) in Culinary 
Arts Degree from the Culinary Institute 
of America, Hyde Park, New York and 
has completed the General Managers 
Program at Cornell University, Ithaca, 
New York. He is also a Certified Hotel 
Administrator.

As an Non – Executive member of 
the Board, Mr. Hall is a member of the 
Corporate Governance Committee of 
the Board which are required to be 
established under the Junior Market 
Rules for the purposes of good corporate 
governance.

For the past 25 years Mark Hall has been 
the CEO of Hall’s Investment Limited, 
operating the IGL filling plant franchise 
and Boomerang Tyre Sales in Western 
Jamaica. Over the years he has held 
directorships with the Montego Bay 
Chamber of Commerce, Universal Access 
Fund, E Learning Company Limited, 
Factories Corporation of Jamaica and is 
currently on the management committee 
for the Montego Bay Yacht Club.

As an independent Non–Executive mem-
ber of the Board, Mr. Hall will also serve 
as the Chairman of the Compensation 
Committees and a member of the Audit 
committee of the Board, both of which 
are required to be established under the 
Junior Market Rules for the purposes of 
good corporate governance. 
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Ronald schrager

Non-executive Director  
(appointed June 2011)

Robert J. Hooker Jr. 

Non executive Director 
(appointed June 2011)

Jan polack

Chief Operating Officer 
(appointed september 2011)

Directors
continued

sandra Glasgow

Mentor to the Board 
(appointed June 2011)

Mr. Schrager is a principal and co-founder 
of Eightfold Real Estate Capital, LP a real 
estate investment and advisory firm. Prior to 
forming Eightfold, Mr. Schrager was the Chief 
Operating Officer of LNR Property LLC of the 
USA, from May 2003 until December 2010. 
Mr. Schrager came to Lennar from Chemical 
Bank (now JP Morgan Chase) in New York, 
where he served as Vice President. He has 
also worked as a consultant with the Boston 
Consulting Group in Boston and ICF Incorpo-
rated in Washington, D.C.

Mr. Schrager received a Masters Degree in 
Business Administration from Harvard Busi-
ness School in 1988. He graduated in 1983 
with a Bachelor of Arts from the University of 
Pennsylvania and was elected to Phi Beta 
Kappa. He also served for 7 years as a mem-
ber of the Board of Governors of the Com-
mercial Mortgage Securitization Association, 
the principal trade group for the commercial 
mortgage backed securities industry. He also 
has been an adjunct professor in the real es-
tate LL.M program at the University of Miami 
School of Law since 2005, teaching courses in 
commercial real estate securitization and com-
mercial real estate loan workouts.

As a Non-Executive member of the Board, 
Mr. Schrager will act as Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and as a member of the Com-
pensation Committee which in each case is 
required to be established under the Junior 
Market Rules for the purposes of good corpo-
rate governance.

Mr. Schrager is married to Wendy Hart, sister 
to Mark Hart. Together, they have 2 children 
and reside in Florida.

Robert (Bob) Hooker is President of 
Honey Industries Inc., a consultancy 
company. He has over 35 years food 
industry experience, having previously 
served as President/CEO of Purity Prod-
ucts Inc., and as founder and President/
CEO of Emerald Diversified Inc., and 
Executive Vice President of Florida 
Shortening Company. He has also been 
a consultant to the Company since 2005.

Mr. Hooker was educated at Norwich 
University and Brookdale College. He 
started his career as a junior chemist, 
before moving into sales and then into 
management. He is an active member 
of charitable organizations including but 
not limited to Rotary International, and 
the Knights of Columbus.

Jan Polack is currently the Chief Operat-
ing Officer of the Company, and her pri-
mary focus is to oversee its operations 
and continued expansion, in which she 
plays an integral role.

Ms. Polack joined the Company as its 
Chief Financial Officer in 2006 before 
she was promoted to her current role 
in June 2010.  Her financial career in 
the tourism services industry began in 
1990 at Hedonism II, where she served 
as Financial Controller for 5 years.  Ms. 
Polack then joined the Grand Lido Sans 
Souci Hotel as the Financial Controller 
where she remained for 7 years before 
continuing in the same group as the 
Business Development Manager at 
Couples Resorts when it changed man-
agement.  Prior to 1990, she worked for 
Dole Fresh Fruit and Coopers and Ly-
brand in Florida for over 8 years.

Ms. Polack was educated at St. Leo’s 
University of Florida, graduating with a 
Bachelors of Arts Degree in Accounting.  
She qualified as a Certified Public 
Accountant in Florida.  She is currently a 
member of the Hospitality & Technology 
Professionals Association and a Director 
of the Montego Bay Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry, and a director 
and company secretary for Caribbean 
Egg Processors Limited, which 
manufactures pasteurised liquid egg for 
the hospitality and hotel industries.

Mrs. Sandra Glasgow has been the Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer of the Private Sector Organ-
isation of Jamaica (PSOJ) since 2007. Prior 
to joining the PSOJ she was the Senior Vice 
President, Corporate Services at the Univer-
sity of Technology of Jamaica (UTech) where 
she led the development of innovative strate-
gies for improving productivity and customer 
service. She is also the founder of UTech’s 
Technology Innovation Centre.

A graduate of the University of the West In-
dies, she holds a Bachelor of Science Degree 
in Applied Zoology and Applied Botany, as 
well as a Masters Degree in Business Admin-
istration from the Mona School of Business 
with a specialisation in the Management of 
Technology. Mrs. Glasgow has served on a 
number of boards in the public and private 
sectors, both locally and internationally. 
She is currently a member of the boards of 
National Commercial Bank Jamaica Lim-
ited, the GraceKennedy Foundation and the 
Credit Enhancement Fund. As the Mentor to 
the Company for the purposes of the Junior 
Market Rules she is responsible for ensuring 
that the Company has adequate procedures, 
systems and controls for financial reporting, 
compliance with Junior Market Rules, and 
corporate governance generally.
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Hugh Logan

VP Sales & Hospitality

Dr. David Lowe

VP Marketing & 
Retail Trade

Radcliffe Murray

Operations Manager

petra-Ann Williamson

Human Resources  
Manager

sandrene Weichenberger

Financial controller

Hugh Logan joined the Company 
in February 1997 as the Beverage 
Systems Manager before being pro-
moted to Sales Manager, then Vice 
President of Hospitality Sales.   

Prior to joining the Company Mr. 
Logan worked in various manage-
ment roles in the hotel sector.  He 
graduated from Seneca College and 
Queen’s University (both of Ontario 
Canada) where he received a Bache-
lor of Science degree in Psychology.

Dr. David Lowe’s career to date has 
been as a Corporate Strategy Con-
sultant with a Doctorate in Business 
Administration (Corporate Finance) 
from the Manchester Business 
School, University of Manchester, 
United Kingdom.

He started his career as an invest-
ment banker in Jamaica and later, 
working as a senior executive for the 
Accenture group. In late 2007 David 
Lowe was appointed the Chairman 
of the Agricultural Development Cor-
poration (ADC) with the Ministry of 
Agriculture and Fisheries.  From then 
he was active in a number of gov-
ernmental boards such as Bureau 
of Standards, IFC and the Jamaica 
Dairy Development Board.  He also 
lectures in Corporate Strategy and 
Marketing at the University of the 
West Indies.  Prior to joining CPJ 
he was the special advisor to the 
Minister of Industry, Investment and 
Commerce .

Radcliffe Murray joined the Company 
in 2001 as a member of the Sales 
and Marketing team. In 2002, he 
was promoted to Manager for the 
Systems Sales Division and he has 
subsequently moved up the ranks, 
resulting in his promotion to his cur-
rent position of Operations Manager. 
Mr. Murray brings to the Company 
his experience in finance, sales and 
marketing.

Mr. Murray graduated from Florida 
International University with a Sales 
and Marketing Certification. In addi-
tion, Mr. Murray holds qualifications 
from the Business Resource Institute 
(BRI) International (Certified Food 
System Management Consultant) 
and Guelph University of Ontario 
Canada (Food Technology Centre). 
He is also a Certified HACCP consul-
tant and serves as a Director of the 
Board of The Jamaica Manufacturers’ 
Association since 2009.

Mrs. Williamson joined the Company 
in February 2009 and brings to it 20 
years of experience in the business 
sector.

Mrs. Williamson graduated with a 
Masters Degree in Business Admin-
istration from the University of New 
Orleans and a Bachelors degree in 
Psychology from the University of the 
West Indies.  She also holds various 
certifications in marketing, project 
management and human resources.  
Mrs. Williamson is a member of the 
Human Resource Management As-
sociation of Jamaica and the Jamai-
ca Employer’s Federation and she is 
also an executive board member of 
the Good Shepherd Foundation.

Mrs. Weichenberger joined the com-
pany in 2007 as the Financial Con-
troller where she brought 15 years 
of experience in Accounting primarily 
working in the Hospitality sector.  

She has a Bachelors degree in Pro-
fessional Management from Nova 
Southeastern University and a mem-
ber of the HFTP Association.

senior MANAGEMENT
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corporate governance

This statement outlines how caribbean pro-
ducers Jamaica Limited has applied the main 
principles set out in the corporate Governance 
code issued by the private sector organisation 
of Jamaica and the Rules of the Jamaica stock 
exchange.

 
For the year ended June 30, 2012 the company has, in the Directors’ 
opinion, complied substantially with the provisions set out in the 
code and the Jse’s Rules.

Role and Function of the Board
The Board which is collectively responsible for the long-term 
success of the company currently comprises three executive and 
six Non-executive Directors, as well as the chairman.

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the 
company. The Board has formally reserved certain matters for its 
determination and approval including the company’s strategic 
direction, risk profile, a sound system of internal controls, annual 
budget, periodic financial reports, overall governance, material 
transactions and succession planning. The company’s corporate 
Governance charter, which outlines the key governance principles 
is posted on our website www.caribbeanproducers.com and is 
available in print through the company’s corporate secretariat.

The Board discharges its responsibilities through quarterly 
scheduled meetings and special meetings, as may be required. In 
the year just ended, the Board met four (4) times.

The Board and its committees monitor and evaluate the 
performance of the Board as a whole.  

The Non-executive Directors are responsible for exercising 
independent judgment in Board deliberations and for scrutinizing 
and challenging the actions of senior management. The executive 
Directors are responsible for day-to-day business operations.

At each Board meeting, the chairman of each Board committee 
informs the Board of key matters discussed and agreed at the 
preceding Committee meeting. Matters not formally reserved to 
the Board are delegated to the Senior Management Group, which 
is headed by the Chief Executive Officer.

Role and responsibilities of the Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer

chairman
The Board is chaired by Mark Hart. The Chairman is responsible 
for the leadership of the Board which includes ensuring that 
Board discussions are conducted in a way which promotes open 
discussion between Directors such that no individual Director or 
small group of Directors dominates proceedings. 

Chief Executive Officer
The Chief Executive Officer, Thomas Tyler, has the overall 
responsibility for running the business on a day-to-day basis and 
heads the Senior Management Group.

composition of the Board
The corporate Governance and Nomination committee regularly 
reviews the structure, size and composition (including the 
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board and its 
committees to ensure that they are well balanced to meet their 
respective responsibilities and makes recommendations to the 
Board with regard to any change.

The company’s corporate governance charter approved by the 
Board on 31 August 2011, deems an independent director to be 
one who:

i.  Is not, and has not been employed by the company or any of 
its related parties at any time during the past five years;

ii.  Is not, and has not been affiliated with a Company that acts 
as an advisor or consultant to the company or its related 
parties, and has not acted in such capacity at any time during 
the past five years;

iii.  Is not, and has not been affiliated with any significant 
customer or supplier of the company or its related parties at 
any time during the past five years;

iv.  Does not currently have, nor has had any personal service 
contracts with the company, its related parties or its senior 
management at any time during the past five years;

v.  Is not affiliated with any non-profit organisation that receives 
significant funding from the Company or its related parties; 

vi.  Does not receive and has not received any additional 
remuneration from the company apart from a director’s 
remuneration, nor participates in the company’s share option 
or performance-related payment plans, nor is a participant of 
the company’s pension plan;
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vii. The director’s remuneration does not constitute a significant 
portion of the person’s annual income;

viii. Is not employed as an executive officer of another Company 
where any of the company’s executives serve on that 
company’s board;

ix. Is not a member of the immediate family of any individual who 
is, or has been at any time during the past five years, employed 
by the Company or its related parties as an executive officer;

x. Is not, nor has been at any time during the past five years, 
affiliated with or  employed by a present or former auditor of 
the company or auditor of any related party; and

xi.  Is not a controlling person of the company (or member of a 
group of individuals and/or entities that collectively exercise 
effective control over the company) or  such person’s brother, 
sister, parent, grandparent, child, cousin, aunt, uncle, nephew 
or niece, or a spouse, widow, in-law, heir, legatee and successor 
of any of the foregoing, (or any trust or similar arrangement 
of which any such persons or a combination thereof are the 
sole beneficiaries) or the executor, administrator or personal 
representative of any person described in this paragraph who 
is deceased or legally incompetent.

The Board has deemed that none of the directors at the date of 
approving the charter met all the criteria for independence, given 
their current relationships with the company. During the year, 
therefore, Mark Hall was appointed as a Non-Executive, Indepen-
dent Director. The Board considers Mr. Hall to be independent of 
management, independent in judgment and character and free 
from any business or other relationship which could materially in-
terfere with the exercise of his independent judgment.

As at June 30, 2012 the company’s Board of Directors comprised 
the following persons:

• A. Mark Hart, Chairman (appointed April 1994)

• Thomas Tyler, Chief Executive Officer (Appointed April 2007)

• Jan Polack, Chief Operating Officer (Appointed September 2011)

• Antony Hart, Non-Executive Director (Appointed April 2007)

• Ronald Schrager, Non-Executive Director (Appointed June 2011)

• Richard Hall, Non-Executive Director (Appointed June 2011)

• Mark Hall, Non-Executive, Independent Director (Appointed 
september 2011)

• Robert J. Hooker Jr., Non-Executive Director (Appointed  
June 2011)

• Theresa Chin, Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary 
(Appointed september 2004)

Mrs. Sandra Glasgow was appointed the Company’s Mentor in June 
2011 and attends all Board and committee meetings.

The Board is of the opinion that each of its members has the skills, 
knowledge, aptitude and experience to perform the functions 
required of a Director of a listed company.

Board performance evaluation
The Board agreed that the annual Board performance effectiveness 
review would be managed internally. A detailed questionnaire was 
circulated to all Board members by the Mentor which focused on 
assessing various matters including the degree of fulfillment of 
the Board’s responsibilities, the quality of the Board/management 
relationship, the effectiveness of individual director contributions 
to the Board’s deliberations  and general comments regarding the 
actions to be taken to improve the effectiveness of the Board and 
its committees and what should be the priorities for the Board in 
the ensuing year.

The responses were aggregated by the Company’s Mentor and the 
Board met to review the feedback.  Arising out of the evaluation 
exercise, the key actions agreed will be incorporated in the Board’s 
work plan for the financial year ending June 30, 2013.  

committees of the Board
The Board has established an Audit committee, a corporate 
Governance and Nomination committee and a compensation 
committee. each committee has written terms of reference 
which have been approved by the Board, and are available on the 
company’s website www.caribbeanproducers.com. A summary of 
the membership of each committee and its work during the year 
are set out below.

Audit committee
The Audit committee has been established to assist the Board 
in providing oversight of the integrity of the financial statements 
of the company, the effectiveness of the internal control over 
financial reporting, the independent auditor’s qualifications and 
independence, the performance of the company’s internal audit 
function and the company’s compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements.

The Board has, through the Audit committee, established formal 
and transparent arrangements for financial reporting, external 
auditing and the review of the internal control environment, 
including compliance and other risk issues. 

The committee has access, as it may require, to the company’s 
internal and external auditors throughout the year, in addition 
to presentations from the internal auditors on a quarterly basis. 
Any significant findings or identified risks are closely examined 
and are reported by the chair of the committee to the Board with 
recommendations for action.

Financial reporting and disclosure
The Board, with the assistance of the Audit committee, has 
ultimate responsibility for the preparation of accounts and for 
the monitoring of systems of internal control. The Board strives 
to present a balanced assessment of the Company’s financial 
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position and prospects and it endeavors to present all financial 
and other information in a manner that is clear to shareholders. 
The Company publishes quarterly financial reports so that its 
shareholders can monitor the Company’s financial position 
regularly and the committee met to review the prior year’s audited 
financial statements and the quarterly financial statements and 
the report to stockholders.

Effective control environment
The key elements of the company’s control environment are as 
follows:
• the Board has overall responsibility to maintain the risk 

management and internal control systems and has delegated 
certain responsibilities to the Senior Management Group and/
or the Audit committee;

• the internal structure of the organization is well documented 
with clear reporting lines and clear limits of authority for 
different matters;

• a range of corporate policies, procedures and training have 
been implemented;

• the Audit Committee considers the major findings of any 
internal investigations and management’s response to 
them. The committee reports annually to the Board on the 
effectiveness of the company’s control environment.

Effective internal control procedures
The company has a system of internal control procedures. 
compliance with these procedures is monitored through a system 
of internal review and regular reports prepared by the internal 
audit consultant, pricewaterhousecoopers and the company’s 
external auditor, KPMG.  Any significant issues arising are reported 
to the Audit committee. 

Effective internal audit
The internal review of the company’s control procedures and 
compliance with such procedures is undertaken through the 
internal audit function undertaken by pricewaterhousecoopers, 
consultants.  The Audit committee monitors and reviews the internal 
audit programme, considers the findings of internal audit reviews 
and management’s response to them, and ensures efficient co-
ordination between the company’s internal and external auditors.  
The committee, which is responsible for monitoring the activity of 
the internal audit function, has reviewed the effectiveness of the 
internal audit function during the year under review.

External auditing
The Audit committee has the primary responsibility for making 
recommendations on the appointment, re-appointment and 
removal of the external auditor as well as for determining the 
remuneration of and overseeing the work of the external auditor. 
The committee assesses at least annually the objectivity and 
independence of the external auditor taking into account relevant 
regulatory requirements. The committee reviews and approves the 
annual external audit plan each year and ensures it is consistent 
with the scope of the auditor’s engagement. The committee also 
considers the fees paid to the external auditor.  on an annual 

basis, the committee assesses the performance of the external 
audit firm based on pre-established critical success factors and 
management’s opinion on the firm’s competence, independence 
and objectivity.

The Audit committee met on four occasions during the year.  
Members of the Committee are:

• Ronald Shrager - Chairman                                           
• Theresa Chin                                                                     
• Mark Hall (Non-Executive, Independent Director)

executive and Non-executive Directors were invited to be in 
attendance at all meetings of the Audit committee during the year.

corporate Governance and Nomination committee
The corporate Governance and Nomination committee assists 
the Board in ensuring that its composition, structure, policies and 
processes meet all relevant legal and regulatory requirements, 
to strive to achieve global corporate governance best practice 
standards and to facilitate the Board and management’s objective 
of increasing the long- term value of the company.  The committee 
met once during the year to review the draft Board charter and 
Terms of Reference for the Board’s standing committees, discuss 
the appointment of an independent non-executive director and  its 
work plan for the year. 

The members of the Committee are:

• Antony Hart - Chairman                                                
• Richard Hall                                                                     
• Robert Hooker                                                                

compensation committee
The Compensation Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its 
fiduciary responsibilities relating to the fair and competitive 
compensation of the non-executive directors, executives and 
other key employees of the company, and with the administration 
of the general employee welfare plans of the company.  The 
remuneration of the executive Directors and the chairman is 
determined by the compensation committee. The remuneration 
of the Non-executive Directors is determined by the chairman and 
the executive Directors. The remuneration of the members of the 
Senior Management Group, other than the Executive Directors, 
is determined by the Chief Executive Officer following discussion 
with the compensation committee. 

The members of the compensation committee, all Non-executive 
Directors are:

• Mark Hall - Chairman                                                     
• Theresa Chin                                                                     
• Ron Schrager                                                                    

The compensation committee met once during the year and 
discussed and agreed the compensation for the executive Directors 
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and Senior Management Team for the upcoming financial year 
2012 - 2013.  The committee subsequently relayed the decision to 
the Board where it was accepted and confirmed.

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings
The attendance of the Directors at Board and committee meetings 
held during the year ended June 30, 2012 was as follows:

Directors Board  Audit  Corporate Governance Compensation 
   and Nomination   Committee
   Committee 
A. Mark Hart 4/4 - - -
Thomas Tyler 4/4 - - -
Theresa Chin 4/4 4/4 - 1/1
Antony Hart 4/4 - 1/1 -
Ronald Shrager 4/4 4/4 - 1/1
Richard Hall 4/4 - 1/1 -
Mark Hall * 3/4 3/4 - 1/1
Robert Hooker 4/4 - 1/1 -
Jan Polack 4/4 - - -

*Mark Hall was appointed a director on September 1st, 2011

Senior Management Group
The Board has delegated the day-to-day management of the 
Company to the Senior Management Group, which operates 
within clear and formal guidelines. The Senior Management Group 
reports to and seeks guidance from the Board on a regular basis 
and normally meets once a month to deliberate on major business 
issues. It also refers to the Board those matters that are of a 
size and significance that require the Board’s consideration and 
decision.

During the year the Senior Management Group met with the 
chairman as an executive committee 10 times in scheduled 
meetings. In addition to the Chairman, Mark Hart, the Executive 
committee currently comprises Thomas Tyler (chief executive 
Officer), Jan Polack (Chief Operating Officer), Sandrene 
Weichenberger (Financial Controller), Hugh Logan (Vice President 
of Sales – Hospitality), Dr. David Lowe (Vice President of Marketing 
and Retail Trade), Radcliffe Murray (Operations Manager) and 
Petra-Ann Williamson (Human Resources Manager).

Non-executive Directors’ Remuneration
The Non-executive Directors are not eligible to join the company’s 
medical scheme, nor do they participate in any of the company’s 
share schemes or other employee benefit schemes. The fees 
paid to the chairman and Non-executive Directors are not 
performance-related.

Fees are determined by the executive Directors and the chairman, 
with the exception of the chairman’s fee which is determined by 
the compensation committee.  Fees are benchmarked against 
chairman and Non-executive Director fees of comparable 
companies.  each Non-executive Director is paid a fee for serving 
as a Non-executive Director, additional fees for membership or 
chairmanship of the Audit, corporate Governance and Nomination 
and compensation committees.  The company pays the cost of 
travel and accommodation for Directors who are based overseas.  

executive Director Remuneration
The company’s remuneration policy is designed to attract, retain 
and motivate talented executives of the high calibre required to 
ensure that the company is managed successfully to the long-term 
benefit of shareholders. To achieve this, a competitive package 
linked to the company’s strategy and performance is provided to 
the executive Directors. The compensation committee takes a 
responsible approach to benchmarking for the executive Directors 
and reviews remuneration relative to company and individual 
performance and to the practice of other comparable companies 
in Jamaica.  The remuneration package for the executive Directors 
is designed to provide an appropriate balance between fixed and 
variable, performance-related components.

The Board is satisfied that the composition and structure of the 
remuneration package is appropriate and does not incentivise 
undue risk taking. 

share ownership policy
The committee believes that employee share ownership is an 
important means to support long-term commitment to the 
company and the alignment of employee interests with those 
of shareholders. The interests of the executive Directors and 
other senior executives are closely aligned with those of other 
shareholders in this regard.  

code of ethics
The company is committed to the maintenance of high ethical 
standards and is in the process of developing a comprehensive 
code of ethics which will apply to all Directors and employees and 
will be available for review on the company’s website.
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NAME SHARES

1. Wave Trading Limited 440,000,000

2. sportswear producers Limited 440,000,000

3. JcsD Trustee services Ltd. A/c#76579-02 13,679,900

4. ATL Group pension Fund Trustees Nom. Ltd. 12,982,044

5. SJIML A/C 3119 10,231,789

6. Huixiong, Liao 9,971,710

7. Mayberry Managed Clients Account 6,791,659

8. MF&G Trust & Finance Ltd. Sigma Venture 6,270,084

9. sJLIc for scotiabridge Retirement scheme 5,828,933

10. SJIML A/C 831 5,675,229

The interests of the Directors and Senior Officers, holding office at the end of the quarter, along 

with their connected persons*, in the ordinary stock units of the Company were as follows:

Mark Hart1,2  –

Antony Hart1 –

Ronald schrager3 –      

Theresa chin 760,900

Jan polack 2,790,185

Richard Mark Hall 432,859

Hugh Logan 545,743

Radcliffe Murray 567,098

petra-Ann Williamson 285,467
1Interests in Sportswear Producers Limited 440,000,000
2Interests in Wave Trading Limited 440,000,000
3Interests in Alpine Endeavors Limited 1,881,100

*Persons deemed to be connected with a director/senior manager are:
i. The director’s/senior manager’s husband or wife.
ii. The director’s/senior manager’s minor children (these include step-children) and dependants and their spouses.
iii. The director’s/senior manager’s partners.
iv. Bodies corporate of which the director/senior manager and or persons connected with him together

top 10 stockholders

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR OFFICERS’ INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2012
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Gross operating Revenue

Gross operating revenue grew by 11% from US$56.3M 
in 2008 to US$67.49 million in financial year 2012. The 
company recovered from its drop in revenue in 2010 by 
growing its sales in the Hospitality sector and adding 
new categories and products to its portfolio. The Revenue 
increased by 5.5% for the year which was better than 
the previous year’s growth of 4%. The compound annual 
growth rate (CAGR) over the last five years is 3.67%.

operating expenses

operating expenses have trended in the same fashion with 
the Gross Operating Revenue, increasing from US$54.07 
million to US$61.68 million which represents 7.6% for the 
5 year period.  The cost of operating Revenues grew by a 
CAGR of 2.66%.

earnings before Interest, Taxes and 
Depreciation (eBIDTA)

earnings before Interest, Taxes and Depreciation 
have moved upwards in the 5 year period. eBIDTA 
grew from US$2.624 million in financial year 2008 to 
US$5.786million in financial year 2012 at a compound 
annual growth rate of (CAGR) of 17.15%.  The year 2012 
showed a pre tax profit of US$3.1M which reflected a 
55% increase from the previous year of 2011 of US$2.01 
million. The company entered the Junior Market of the 
Jamaica stock exchange on July 20th 2011 and will now 
experience a tax benefit for the next 10 years.

Selling & Administrative Expenses Cost of Operating Revenue
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management 

discussion & 

analysis

The company overall

The company is a fully integrated food service distributor 
which started selling products to the hospitality industry. In 
the past few years it became known for the highest quality 
commodities for institutional and consumer markets as 
well as world renowned brands. We are a solutions-driven 
organization where we try to match our portfolio of products 
and services to meet the needs of our target markets both 
Institutional and Retail.

Market Conditions

The changing economic landscape requires cpJ to understand 
the cost sensitivity and quality requirements for our customers For year ended June 30, 2012
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and partners to remain competitive 
and as such in our quest to build 
our portfolio, we strive to meet their 
needs. cpJ continues to be proud 
of having the best in class product 
categories and a dedicated sales 
team that works closely in achieving 
that delicate balance.

In the local market we have sought to 
increase our footprint by expanding 
the categories and developing the 
support services for distribution to 
bring a wider appeal to the average 
consumer.  In the Hospitality sector, 
cpJ has enhanced its traditional food 
and beverage services by providing 
technical services such as chemical, 
pool and sanitation products as part 
of our solutions-oriented approach 
to helping our clients obtain cost 
effective and quality products.

Financial performance

The Company’s financial performance 
in 2011/2012 was positive as Revenues 
of US$67.5 Million were achieved rep-
resenting a 5.5% increase compared 
to the US$63.9 Million earned in fis-
cal year 2011. The overall increase in 
revenue for the total portfolio was 
both in the hospitality and retail 
sectors despite the slowdown of 
the wine and spirit sales in the local 
market, because imported wine and 
spirits were subjected to significant 
increases in duties & scT.  Gross op-
erating Profit (EBIDTA) of US$5.7 mil-
lion was achieved which reflected an 
increase of 26% compared to the pre-
vious year. The Net Profit before tax 
of US$3.12 Million represented an in-
crease of 55% over the previous year 
of US$2.01 Million. 

operating expenses

selling and Administrative expenses 
increased by US$759.5 thousand or 
7% (2012: US$11.6 Million; 2011 US$10.8 
Million) primarily due to  the addition 
of the meat processing plant as well 
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as growing the Technical services 
department which encompasses the 
Beverage systems and chemical pro-
grams. As a distribution company we 
are impacted by the rising cost of fuel 
leading to a 35% increase in trucking 
costs. utility costs also increased sig-
nificantly with the advent of the pro-
cessing plant.  

Balance sheet

Current assets rose by 7.6% over the 
same period last year. Trade Receiv-
ables increased by US$2.1 million 
while our current liabilities declined 
by $792 thousand, primarily because 
of a reduction in tax payable. On May 
10th, 2012 the Board of Directors met 
and declared a dividend of JA$.05 per 
share, which was subsequently paid 
on June 20th, 2012. 

outlook

The Meat Processing Plant began 
contributing to overall sales by ser-
vicing the demand of the hospitality 
market with beef and pork products. 
over the next year, the company will 
further expand its range of products 
for local consumption and for export.

In support of the processing plant 
and the overall expansion of the 
business, the construction of another 
10,000 sq. ft. warehouse in Montego 
Freeport was initiated.  This facility 
will house operating supplies for all 
of our processing plants, offices for 
our Technical services division and 
our eagerly awaited staff welfare 
center.    

In June 2012, cpJ signed an agree-
ment with swisher Hygiene, Inc. a 
NASDAQ and TSX listed company 
that provides essential hygiene and 
sanitation solutions to customers 
throughout much of North Amer-
ica and internationally through a 
global network of company-owned 
operations, franchises and master 
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licensees. With this venture, cpJ has deep-
ened its commitment to becoming a full 
foodservice provider of chemical products 
for housekeeping, ware-washing and laun-
dry programs.  We are excited about this 
opportunity to strengthen our technical 
expertise and widen our knowledge base 
so that we can best serve and support our 
valued customers in the food service sec-
tor.  The anticipated opening of CPJ Market 
Kingston is slated for December 2012.  The 
store will provide a vehicle for showcasing 
our extensive wines and spirits portfolio, 
gourmet foods, fine cheeses, specialty 
items as well as our heritage and house 
brands.

This year is cpJ’s 18th anniversary, as Jamaica 
celebrates its 50 years of independence; 
it is a time that we should all cherish.  We 
are proud of our accomplishments and we 
remain passionate about providing better 
products and services in the coming year.  
For this reason we salute our customers 
for their belief in us, our vendors for their 
continued support and our management 
and staff for their hard work and dedication.
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Human Resources Overview
Riding on the success of improved employee morale for the financial year 2010-11, the 
HR Department felt it was necessary to stay on the path of developing our team and 
employee engagement.  
 

At the start of our financial year our total employee count was 226 and by year end it had grown to 282. 
Despite our robust recruitment process, the HR team was not deterred from the mission to continue the 
development of team members. It was a challenging but fulfilling year.

Team Development: Various employees participated in over 15 seminars, workshops, conferences and 
general training activities and gained several certifications, some of international acclaim. Our focus this 
financial year was our middle management team of supervisors and managers. They all participated and 
accomplished certifications in Supervisory management with the focal points being coaching, motivation 
and communication. 

At cpJ it is mandatory for approximately 85 percent of our staff complement to hold Food Handler permits.
We are proud to say we are 100% compliant.

Key technical personnel received the requisite certification in Sanitation, Good Manufacturing Practices, 
FDA Inspection and Implementation of Food Safety and Traceability Systems as well as Pool Maintenance.

Several of our Executive Managers participated in Risk Management and Assessment workshop and a 
Marketing workshop on Brand Management.
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No category of staff was left out as some of our 
clerical team attended workshops to enhance their 
professional image, others participated in First 
Aid training and a team of 17 drivers attended the 
Grennell safe Driver expo.

It was a full year for the HR team and one which was 
completely gratifying for the team-members.

Employee engagement: At cpJ we know that 
training and development encourages the 
employee and helps them to be engaged. While 
we continue to do that, we aspire to find new ways 
to keep employees engaged. our staff Awards, 
Incentive programmes and our sports and social 
club contribute to keeping the team together while 
we work hard.

The Staff Awards held in March this year recognised 
ten persons celebrating 10 years with the company 
as well as 41 other employees for achievement in 
perfect attendance, best performance in their 
departments and having the cpJ image of service 
excellence. This year we implemented a cpJ spirit 
Award where employees voted for the nominated 
candidates who best embodied the “CPJ Spirit”: 
good interpersonal skills, excellent performance 
and helpfulness. Warehouse supervisor, courtney 
Hines, who celebrated 16 years with the company, 
was overwhelmingly voted the winner of the award.

 The cpJ sports & social club’s major focus this year 
was a raffle to raise funds for the Blossom Gardens 
children Home.  After getting the requisite approvals, 
it was an exciting experience as staff competed to 
see who would sell the most tickets. They raised 
over J$160,000 which was used to refurbish the 
bathrooms at the centre. on Labour Day, the club 
donated and hung several well needed doors at the 
Montego Bay Learning Centre, a school for mentally 
challenged children. other activities included the 
Taste of Italy and Taste of  Jamaica days. on these 
two days, all the best cooks displayed their talent 
using cpJ products and made sumptuous treats 
that were well received. The sports club also did a 
quarterly newsletter which featured departments, 
stated “the happenings” with employees and then 
presented brain teasers for all to enjoy. These and 
other activities really kept the team going.

Another initiative has been the introduction of our 
Health and safety policy & procedures. The safety 
committee is comprised of Department Heads (6) 
and Safety Monitors (12) for every department within 
the company totaling 18 persons. The team is eager, 
willing and working hard to ensure everyone is 
involved with safety. It is very heartening to observe 
and certainly improves employee commitment.
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corporate social Responsibility is at the heart of 
the company’s business as we strive to build and 
maintain trust with our many stakeholders as well 
as in the communities in which we operate. The 
company therefore attaches great importance to 
ethical business practices and to societal and en-
vironmental issues. Accordingly, ultimate responsi-
bility for them is taken at the highest levels. 

As a corporate entity based in Western Jamaica, we are integrally 
involved with the community in various ways. our concern 
revolves around Health care, education and the environment.   
 
Health Care: This financial year, CPJ has partnered with the 
We care for cornwall Regional Hospital Foundation which is a 
group of prominent businesses in the West coming together 
to improve the cornwall Regional Hospital. (cRH)  This is a long 
term project which will result in many activities done in aid of 
the many needs of the hospital. 

Further, cpJ is supporting the Jamaica Association of 
Administrative professionals which has taken on the formidable 
task of raising funds to buy a Linear Accelerator machine for 
the cancer treatment department at the cRH.

We also sponsor the CUMI Walkathon which was held on August 
22nd. CUMI, the Committee for the Upliftment of the Mentally 
Ill, provides rehabilitation services for the psychologically 
challenged in the parish of st James. The race and walk, is a 
major fundraising activity for the non-profit organisation and 
we supported in both the effort of funding, providing products 
and about 30 employees who actually walked. It was a fun-filled 
inspiring day. other ways we have supported the health sector 
were participation in blood drives and donating products to 
events where funds were raised for clinics or other health care 
facilities.

Education: charity begins at home and at cpJ we take that very 
seriously. In August, we paid out over J$1.2 million in primary, 

high school and university scholarships and bursaries to 
children of employees who achieved academic excellence. 

Additionally, we supported the Rotary Club of Montego Bay by 
offering a full scholarship to one needy student attending the 
university of the West Indies.

Through our very active sports & social club, we supported 
many schools throughout western Jamaica by donating 
products to the many school feeding or breakfast programmes, 
participation in career days and facilitating mentorship.  We 
also try to facilitate students who need work experience and 
even had one young lady come to us from the HeART Agricultural 
institute in clarendon to learn more about food processing.

Environment: CPJ has supported the Montego Bay Marine 
park, the Jamaica environment Trust and the Teen Green camp 
in their many activities through donation of products and 
purchasing tickets for events.

Corporate

Social Responsibility
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Corporate data
LOCATION

caribbean producers (Jamaica) Limited

1 Guinep Way, Montego Freeport

P.O. Box 302, Montego Bay, St. James, Jamaica W.I.

Tel: (876) 979-8134/8136

Fax: (876) 953-6898

Email: info@caribbeanproducers.com

Web: www.caribbeanproducers.com

REGISTERED OFFICE

Shop # 14, Montego Freeport Shopping Centre

Montego Bay, St. James

AUDITOR

KPMG, 6 Duke Street, Kingston

BANKERS

RBc Jamaica Limited

17 Dominica Drive, New Kingston

The Bank of Nova scotia Jamaica Limited, scotiabank centre

Duke & port Royal streets, Kingston

National Commercial Bank, Baywest Centre, Montego Bay
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KPMG 
Chartered Accountants 
Unit #14, Fairview Office Park 
Alice Eldemire Drive 
Montego Bay 
Jamaica, W.I. 
 

P.O. Box 220 
Montego Bay 
Jamaica, W.I. 
Telephone               +1 (876) 684-9922 
Fax                          +1 (876) 684-9927 
e-Mail                      firmail@kpmg.com.jm 

  
 

KPMG, a Jamaican partnership and a  
member firm of the KPMG network of  
independent member firms affiliated with  
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG  
International”), a Swiss entity 

Elizabeth A. Jones                                             Cynthia L. Lawrence 
R. Tarun Handa                                                  Rajan Trehan 
Patrick A. Chin                                                   Norman O. Rainford 
Patricia O. Dailey-Smith                                     Nigel R. Chambers 
Linroy J. Marshall 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of
CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Caribbean Producers (Jamaica) Limited (the 
company), set out on pages    to    , which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
June 30, 2012, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Jamaican 
Companies Act, and for such internal controls as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance as to whether or not the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

29 56
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of 
CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
company as at June 30, 2012, and of its financial performance, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the Jamaican Companies Act.

Report on additional matters as required by the Jamaican Companies Act

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge 
and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.  In our opinion, proper accounting 
records have been maintained and the financial statements, which are in agreement therewith, 
give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act, in the manner required.

Chartered Accountants
Montego Bay, Jamaica

September 14, 2012
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Statement of Financial Position
June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

*Restated (see note 26).
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Notes 2012 2011 2010

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3 673,473 871,251 803,854
Accounts receivable 4 11,499,917 9,267,837 12,280,961
Inventories 5 15,722,412 15,791,277 12,559,025

27,895,802 25,930,365 25,643,840

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Short-term loans 6 6,000,000 6,205,000 3,800,000
Accounts payable 7 4,571,929 4,555,094 6,753,380
Due to related parties 8 3,916,667 3,646,667 3,646,667
Current portion of long-term loans 15 516,813 790,723 479,731
Taxation payable 218,381 818,071 363,906

15,223,790 16,015,555 15,043,684

NET CURRENT ASSETS 12,672,012 9,914,810 10,600,156

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interest in joint venture 9 268,643 283,623* 433,226*
Investment 10 - 49,452 78,250
Deferred tax asset 11 - 2,940 182,286
Property, plant and equipment 12 8,576,076 5,074,884 4,066,827

8,844,719 5,410,899 4,760,589

$21,516,731 15,325,709 15,360,745
EQUITY

Share capital 13 4,898,430 5,874 30
Accumulated surplus 5,457,709 3,044,500* 1,954,209*

10,356,139 3,050,374 1,954,239

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liability 11 17,599 - -
Related party loans 14 8,614,493 9,143,338 12,663,885
Long-term loans 15 2,528,500 3,131,997 742,621

11,160,592 12,275,335 13,406,506

$21,516,731 15,325,709 15,360,745

The financial statements on pages to , were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on
September 14, 2012 and signed on its behalf by:

Director Director
Mark Hart Theresa Chin

29 56
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

*Restated (see note 26).
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Notes 2012 2011

Gross operating revenue 16 67,490,871 63,943,298

Cost of operating revenue (50,090,456) (48,525,466)

Gross profit 17,400,415 15,417,832

Selling and administration expenses (11,595,487) (10,835,999)

Depreciation 12 (  1,097,669) (     842,674)

Other operating expenses, net 17(a) ( 18,526) ( 5,885)

Operating profit 4,688,733 3,733,274

Finance income 17(b) 1,761 2,777

Finance costs 17(c) ( 1,550,669) ( 1,694,097)

Share of loss in joint venture 9 ( 23,753) ( 28,530)*

Profit before taxation 17(d) 3,116,072 2,013,424

Taxation 18 ( 74,017) ( 917,289)

Profit for the year, being total comprehensive income $ 3,042,055 1,096,135

Earnings per stock unit 19 0.28¢ 0.12¢ *
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Share Accumulated
capital surplus Total

(note 13)

Balances at June 30, 2010:
As previously reported 30 2,103,081 2,103,111
Prior year adjustment [note 26(a)] - ( 148,872) ( 148,872)

As restated 30 1,954,209 1,954,239

Profit for the year, being total comprehensive income,
as restated [note 26(b)] - 1,096,135 1,096,135

30 3,050,344 3,050,374
Transaction recorded directly in equity:

Issue of bonus shares (note 13) 5,844 ( 5,844) -

Balances at June 30, 2011 as restated [note 26(a)] 5,874 3,044,500 3,050,374

Profit for the year, being total comprehensive income - 3,042,055 3,042,055

Dividends (note 24) - (   628,846) ( 628,846)

Transaction recorded directly in equity:
Issue of shares (note 13) 4,892,556 - 4,892,556

Balances at June 30, 2012 $4,898,430 5,457,709 10,356,139
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

*Restated (see note 26). 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

2012 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 3,042,055 1,096,135 *
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 1,097,669 842,674
Share of loss in joint venture 23,753 28,530 *
Impairment of investment 49,452 -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment ( 12,447) ( 15,760)
Interest income ( 1,761) (         2,777)
Interest expense 1,550,669 1,694,097
Taxation 74,017 917,289

5,823,407 4,560,188

(Increase)/decrease in current assets:
Accounts receivable  ( 2,232,080) 3,013,124
Inventories 68,865 ( 3,232,252)

Increase/(decrease) in current liability:
Accounts payable 29,660 ( 1,882,557)

Cash generated from operations 3,689,852 2,458,503

Interest paid ( 1,563,494) ( 2,009,826)
Tax paid ( 653,168) ( 283,778)

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,473,190 164,899

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest in joint venture ( 8,773) 121,073
Investment - 28,798
Additions to property, plant and equipment ( 4,655,651) (  1,887,502)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 69,237 52,531
Interest received 1,761 2,777

Net cash used by investing activities ( 4,593,426) ( 1,682,323)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Shares issued, net of expenses 4,892,556 -
Dividends paid ( 628,846) -
Loans received from related parties 921,555 2,000
Loans received from third parties 12,135,000 13,310,000
Loans repaid to related parties ( 1,180,400) ( 3,522,547)
Loans repaid to third parties (13,217,407) ( 8,204,632)

Net cash provided by financing activities 2,922,458 1,584,821

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents ( 197,778) 67,397

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 871,251 803,854

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR $ 673,473 871,251
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements 
June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

1. The company

The company is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica.  Its registered office is situated at Shop 
No. 14, Montego Freeport Shopping Centre, Montego Bay, St. James and its principal place of 
business is at 1 Guinep Way, Montego Freeport, Montego Bay, St. James. 

The company’s principal activities during the year were the wholesaling and distribution of food 
and beverages, the distribution of non-food supplies and the manufacture and distribution of 
fresh juices.

The company’s shares were listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange on July 
20, 2011.

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance:

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and their interpretations issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican Companies 
Act.

During the year, certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing 
standards became effective.  Management deemed the following relevant to the company:

• IFRS 7, Financial Instructions: Disclosures led to some changes in the qualitative 
and quantitative disclosures relating to credit risk. In particular, disclosure of the 
amount of the company’s ‘maximum exposure to credit risk without considering any 
collateral held’ is now made only if the carrying amount of the financial asset does 
not already reflect such exposure.  

• Revised IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures introduced changes to related party 
disclosure requirements for government-related entities and amends the definitions of 
a related party.  Aside from the change to the definition of a related party in note 2(j), 
this revision did not have any material impact on these financial statements.

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, there were certain standards, 
interpretations, and amendments to existing standards which were in issue but were not 
yet effective.  Those which management considered relevant to the company and their 
effective dates are as follows:

• IAS 12, Income Taxes has been amended, effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2012, to require an entity to measure deferred taxes 
relating to an asset based on whether the entity expects to recover the carrying amount 
of the asset through use or sale
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d):

• IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements: Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
July 1, 2012. It has been amended to require an entity to present separately the items 
of other comprehensive income (OCI) that may be reclassified to profit or loss in the 
future from those that would never be reclassified to profit or loss.  Consequently, an 
entity that presents items of OCI before related tax effects will also have to allocate 
the aggregated tax amount between these sections. The existing option to present the 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in two statements has not changed. 
The title of the statement has changed from Statement of Comprehensive Income to 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. However, an entity is 
still allowed to use other titles.  

• IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures (2011) are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013. They remove from IAS 31 Jointly Controlled Entities, those cases 
which, although there is a separate vehicle, that separation is ineffective in certain 
ways. These arrangements are treated similarly to jointly controlled assets/operations 
and are now called joint operations. The remainder of IAS 31 now called Joint 
Ventures, removes the choice of equity accounting or proportionate consolidation and 
requires that the equity method be used. The company has already recognised its 
interest in joint venture using the equity method.

• IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. It contains disclosure requirements for 
entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/or 
unconsolidated structured entities. These required disclosures aim to provide 
information to enable users to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, an 
entity’s interests in other entities and the effects of those interests on the entity’s 
financial position, financial performance and cash flows. 

• IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2013. It replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained 
in individual IFRSs with a single source of fair value measurement guidance. It 
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets out 
disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. IFRS 13 explains ‘how’ to 
measure fair value when it is required or permitted by other IFRSs. IFRS 13 does not 
introduce new requirements to measure assets or liabilities at fair value, nor does it 
eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value measurements that currently exist 
in certain standards. It defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date, i.e. an exit price.
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d):

• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2015. The standard retains but simplifies the mixed measurement 
model and establishes two primary measurement categories for financial assets: 
amortised cost and fair value. The revised standard includes guidance on 
classification and measurement of financial liabilities designated as fair value through 
profit or loss and incorporates certain existing requirements of IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement on the recognition and de-recognition of 
financial assets and financial liabilities. 

Management is evaluating the impact that the foregoing standards and amendments to 
standards will have on its financial statements when they are adopted.

(b) Basis of preparation:

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, and are 
presented in United States dollars (US$), which is the company’s functional currency.

(c) Use of estimates and judgements:

The preparation of the financial statements to conform with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, 
contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date, and the income and 
expenses for the year then ended.  Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised, if the 
revision affects only that year, or in the year of the revision and future years, if the 
revision affects both current and future years.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have significant effects
on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in 
the next financial year are discussed below:

(i) Allowance for impairment losses on receivables:

In determining amounts recorded for impairment losses on receivables in the 
financial statements, management makes judgements regarding indicators of 
impairment, that is, whether there are indicators that suggest there may be a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from receivables, caused for 
example, by default or adverse economic conditions. Management also makes 
estimates of the likely estimated future cash flows from impaired receivables as 
well as the timing of such cash flows. Historical loss experience is applied where 
indicators of impairment are observable on significant receivables with similar 
characteristics, such as credit risks.
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(c) Use of estimates and judgements (cont’d):

(ii) Net realisable value of inventories:

Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable evidence available,
at the time the estimates are made, of the amount the inventories are expected to 
realise.  These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of price or cost directly 
relating to events occurring after the end of the year to the extent that such events 
confirm conditions existing at the end of the year.

Estimates of net realisable value also take into consideration the purpose for which 
the inventory is held.

(iii) Judgement in evaluation of contingencies: 

For a contingent liability to qualify for recognition there must be a present 
obligation and the probability of an outflow of economic benefits to settle that 
obligation. In recognising contingent liabilities of the company, management 
determines the possibility of an outflow of resources and makes estimates of 
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date.

No provision is made if management considers the possibility of any outflow in 
settlement to be remote.

(iv) Residual value and expected useful life of property plant and equipment:

The residual value and the expected useful life of an asset are reviewed at least at 
each reporting date, and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change 
is accounted for prospectively. The useful life of an asset is defined in terms of the 
asset’s expected utility to the company.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents:

This comprises cash and bank balances, and short-term deposits maturing within three 
months or less from the date of deposit or acquisition that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and which are not subject to significant risk of changes in value.

(e) Accounts receivable:

Trade and other receivables are stated at amortised cost, less impairment losses.

(f) Inventories:

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost, determined on the weighted average basis, and 
net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less selling expenses.

The cost of raw materials, labour and appropriate allocations for overhead expenses are 
included in manufactured finished goods.
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(g) Property, plant and equipment:

(i) Owned assets:

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

(ii) Depreciation:

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on the straight-line basis at annual rates 
estimated to write down the assets to their estimated residual values over their 
expected useful lives. No depreciation is charged on construction in progress. The 
depreciation rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 10% and 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% and 20%
Computer equipment 33.33%
Motor vehicles 20%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each 
reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(h) Accounts payable:

Trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost.

(i) Provisions:

A provision is recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.  If the effect is 
material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and where 
appropriate, the risk specific to the obligation.

(j) Related parties:

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its 
financial statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting 
entity”).

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if 
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a 
parent of the reporting entity.
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(j) Related parties (cont’d):

(b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which 
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the 
others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate 
or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a 
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an 
associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of 
either the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.  If the 
reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related 
to the reporting entity.

(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a 
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 
entity). 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a
reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

(k) Revenue recognition:

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the buyer. No revenue is recognised if there are 
significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due or material 
associated costs on the possible return of goods.

(l) Expense/income:

(i) Finance income and costs:

Finance income comprises interest earned on funds invested and is recognised in 
profit or loss as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the asset.  

Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the 
effective interest method and material bank overdraft interest.
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(l) Expense/income (cont’d):

(ii) Operating lease payments:

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on the 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(m) Taxation:

Income tax on the profit for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Taxation is 
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in 
equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years.

Deferred tax is provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date.

A deferred tax liability is recognised for taxable temporary differences, except to the 
extent that the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.

(n) Impairment:

The carrying amounts of the company’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  An impairment loss is recognised whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.  
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount:

The recoverable amount of the company’s receivables is calculated as the present 
value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate 
inherent in the asset.  Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(n) Impairment (cont’d):

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount (cont’d):

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs.

(ii) Reversals of impairment:

An impairment loss in respect of receivables is reversed if the subsequent increase 
in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised.  

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

(o) Interest-bearing borrowings:

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at cost. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost, with any difference
between cost and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of 
the borrowing on an effective interest basis.

(p) Foreign currencies:

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the rates of exchange ruling on the 
dates of those transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other
currencies at the reporting date are translated to United States dollars at the rates of
exchange ruling on that date. Gains and losses arising from fluctuations in exchange rates 
are included in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, all foreign currency gains and losses 
recognised in profit or loss are treated as cash items and included in cash flows from 
operating or financing activities along with movements in the principal balances.

(q) Financial instruments:

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise. Financial assets have 
been determined to include cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. Financial 
liabilities include short-term loans, accounts payable, related party payables and long-term 
loans.
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CARIBBEAN PRODUCERS (JAMAICA) LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
June 30, 2012
(Presented in United States dollars)

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(r) Determination of fair value:

Fair value amounts represent estimates of the arm’s length consideration that would be 
currently agreed between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to 
act and is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists. Some financial 
instruments lack an available trading market. These instruments have been valued using 
present value or other valuation techniques and the fair value shown may not necessarily 
be indicative of the amounts realisable in an immediate settlement of the instruments.

(s) Interest in joint venture:

This represents entities or operations over which the company by virtue of a joint venture 
agreement, exercises joint control with one or more entities. Interest in joint venture is 
accounted for using the equity method, whereby the investment is recognised initially at 
cost and thereafter the carrying amount is increased or reduced by the comany’s share of 
profits or losses after the acquisition date.

(t) Operating segments:

An operating segment is a component of the company that engages in business activities 
from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses 
that relate to transactions with any of the company’s other components and for which 
discrete financial information is available. An operating segment’s operating results are 
reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance.

Based on the nature of the company’s products, processes, customers and distribution 
systems, management has determined that disclosure of segment information is not 
applicable to the company.

(u) Transaction costs:

(i) Transaction costs of share issue:

Transaction costs on the issue of shares are deducted from the proceeds of the issue 
of share capital to the extent the costs are directly attributable to the issue of the
shares.

(ii) Debt issuance costs:

Debt issuance costs represent financing and certain related fees associated with 
securing a long-term loan.  Amortisation is charged to profit or loss on the effective 
interest basis over the life of the loan.

(v) Share-based payment transactions:

The grant-date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees or other 
parties is recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in share capital.
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3. Cash and cash equivalents
2012 2011

Cash 6,747 5,924
Bank balances 666,726 865,327

$ 673,473 871,251

4. Accounts receivable
2012 2011

Trade receivables 9,049,722 6,853,537
Other receivables 2,524,591 2,483,317

11,574,313 9,336,854
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts ( 74,396) ( 69,017)

$11,499,917 9,267,837

Trade receivables include $42,223 (2011: $34,975) due from directors and $81,844 (2011:
$54,379) due from companies related by way of common directors.

Other receivables include $5,073 (2011: $5,273) due from directors and $740,860 (2011:
$771,638) due from companies related by way of common directors.

The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

2012 2011
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

Not past due 6,088,537 - 2,504,049 -
Past due 31- 45 days 916,229 - 2,856,360 -
More than 45 days 2,044,956 74,396 1,493,128 69,017

Trade accounts receivable $9,049,722 74,396 6,853,537 69,017

The movement in allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was 
as follows:

2012 2011

Balance at beginning of year 69,017 68,167
Amounts written off (32,759) -
Amount provided during the year 38,138 850

Balance at end of year $74,396 69,017

During the year bad debt expenses aggregating $36,965 (2011: $22,959) were recognised.
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5. Inventories
2012 2011

Goods held for resale – duty paid 12,202,081 12,891,926
Goods held in bonded warehouse 992,456 596,705
Goods in transit 2,151,175 2,007,919
Raw materials 272,914 190,069
Spare parts 103,786 104,658

$15,722,412 15,791,277

During the year, expenses relating to inventory write-offs amounted to $461,800 (2011: 
$633,015).

6. Short-term loan

This commercial bank loan bears interest at 6.50% (2011: 7%) per annum and is repayable on 
demand. This loan is secured as detailed in note 15.

7. Accounts payable
2012 2011

Trade payables 3,391,973 3,643,607
Other payables 1,179,956 911,487

$4,571,929 4,555,094

Trade payables include $3,437 (2011: $2,687) due to directors and $49,646 (2011: $141,154)
due to companies related by way of common directors. 

Other payables include $105,665 (2011: $112,716) due to companies related by way of common 
directors.

8. Due to related parties

These loans from related parties are repayable with three months notice to the company, are 
unsecured and bear interest at 6% to 8% per annum (2011: 7% to 9%).

9. Interest in joint venture
2012 2011

Shares, at cost 77 77
Additional cost of acquisition 406,977 406,977
Advances 62,744 53,971

469,798 461,025
Less:  Share of accumulated losses (201,155) (177,402)*

$268,643 283,623
The company holds a 50% interest in Caribbean Egg Processors Limited (CEP), a company 
incorporated to purchase, process and sell eggs, related products and services. 

The company has recognised its interest in joint venture using the equity method and based on 
information available from the unaudited financial statements of CEP whose reporting date is 
June 30.

*Restated (see note 26).
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9. Interest in joint venture (cont’d)

Summary of financial information for CEP is as follows:
2012 2011

Current assets 165,194 163,407
Non-current assets 254,540 315,825
Current liabilities 122,356 101,884
Non-current liabilities 714,443 689,746
Income 514,189 659,746
Expenses (561,695) (716,806)

Loss for the year ( 47,506) ( 57,060)

Company’s share of loss $( 23,753) ( 28,530)

10. Investment

This represents a 16.67% interest in Aerojam Operations Limited (Operator of a Beechcraft
Baron Aeroplane). During the year, the company made an allowance for impairment on the
value of the investment.

11. Deferred tax asset/(liability)

The deferred tax asset/(liability) is attributable to differences in tax and financial statement 
reporting in respect of the following:

Recognised Recognised
2010 in income 2011 in income 2012

[note 18(a)] [note 18(a)]

Property, plant and equipment 3,207 (       267) 2,940 (20,539) (17,599)
Accounts payable 189,229 (189,229) - - -
Others ( 10,150) 10,150 - - -

$182,286 (179,346) 2,940 (20,539) (17,599)

12. Property, plant and equipment
Furniture,

Leasehold fixtures and Computer Motor Construction
improvements equipment equipment vehicle in progress Total

Cost:
June 30, 2010 2,708,126 3,270,924 783,421 1,162,851 - 7,925,322
Additions 987,007 693,061 102,345 105,089 - 1,887,502
Disposals ( 101,387) ( 744) ( 26,812) ( 84,032) - ( 212,975)

June 30, 2011 3,593,746 3,963,241 858,954 1,183,908 - 9,599,849
Additions 1,400,366 2,267,492 132,373 180,984 674,436 4,655,651
Disposals - ( 103,664) - ( 44,827) - ( 148,491)

June 30, 2012 4,994,112 6,127,069 991,327 1,320,065 674,436 14,107,009
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12. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
Furniture,

Leasehold fixtures and Computer Motor Construction
improvements equipment equipment vehicle in progress Total

Depreciation:
June 30, 2010 1,200,045 1,381,576 583,590 693,284 - 3,858,495
Charge for the year 247,434 279,885 133,271 182,084 842,674
Disposals ( 101,386) ( 1,007) ( 24,825) ( 48,986) - ( 176,204)

June 30, 2011 1,346,093 1,660,454 692,036 826,382 - 4,524,965
Charge for the year 369,959 455,707 114,782 157,221 - 1,097,669
Disposals - ( 47,834) - ( 43,867) - ( 91,701)

June 30, 2012 1,716,052 2,068,327 806,818 939,736 - 5,530,933

Net book values:
June 30, 2012 $3,278,060 4,058,742 184,509 380,329 674,436 8,576,076

June 30, 2011 $2,247,653 2,302,787 166,918 357,526 - 5,074,884

13. Share capital

Authorised: 
176,000,000,000

ordinary shares of no par value
2012 2011

Stated capital, issued and fully paid:
1,100,000,000 (2011: 880,000,000) ordinary shares 

of no par value 5,117,611 5,874
Less:  Transaction costs of share issue ( 219,181) -

$4,898,430 5,874

On February 15, 2011, the company unanimously passed a resolution that the authorised share 
capital of the company be increased from 1,000 to 100,000,000.

On June 1, 2011, the company unanimously passed the following resolutions: 

• the capitalisation of the sum of $5,844 (J$499,000) standing to the credit of the company’s 
revenue reserves and to apply such sum in paying up in full at par on behalf of the current 
shareholders 499,000 ordinary shares and that such shares be allotted, distributed and 
credited as fully paid, in accordance with their existing holdings in the company;

• That the authorised share capital of the company be increased from 100,000,000 to 
176,000,000,000 shares;

• That each of the existing issued and unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the company 
be divided into 1,760 ordinary shares.

In July 2011, the company issued 220,000,000 new shares to the public and its shares were 
listed on the Junior Stock Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange on July 20, 2011 (note 1).
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13. Share capital (cont’d)

The public issue included shares offered to employees and other parties at a price which was 
less than the offer price of J$2 per share at cost. The difference between the price offered to 
employees or other parties and the offer price of J$2 per share amounted to $139,395.  This has 
been recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in share capital.

14. Related party loans
2012 2011

Due to related companies (by way of common directors) [note (a)] 8,056,000 8,591,338
Due to related party [note (a)] 58,493 52,000
Due to related company (by way of common directors) [note (b)] 500,000 500,000

$8,614,493 9,143,338

(a) These loans attract interest at 8% to 9% (2011: 8% to 9%) per annum, are unsecured and 
not repayable before June 30, 2013 (see note 15).

(b) These loans are unsecured, interest-free, and are not repayable before June 30, 2013.

15. Long-term loans
2012 2011

7% RBC Royal Bank (Jamaica) Limited (a) - 288,526
7% RBC Royal Bank (Jamaica) Limited (b) 287,956 454,095
7% RBC Royal Bank (Jamaica) Limited (c) 144,041 180,099
7% RBC Royal Bank (Jamaica) Limited (d) 900,000 1,000,000
7% RBC Royal Bank (Jamaica) Limited (e) 1,800,000 2,000,000

3,131,997 3,922,720
Less:  Current portion ( 516,813) ( 790,723)

2,615,184 3,131,997

Debt issuance cost (f) ( 95,432) -
Amortised during the year 8,748 -

At end of year ( 86,684) -

$2,528,500 3,131,997

(a) This represented the balance due on an initial loan of $1,500,000. The loan was repayable 
in sixty equal monthly instalments of principal and interest of $29,786. The loan was fully 
settled in April 2012.

(b) This represents the balance due on an initial loan of $800,000. The loan is repayable in 
sixty equal monthly instalments of principal and interest of $16,055, the final instalment 
being due in January 2014.

(c) This represents the balance due on an initial loan of $200,000. The loan is repayable in
sixty monthly installments of principal and interest of $3,960, the final installment being 
due on November 2015.
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15. Long-term loans (cont’d)

(d) This represents the balance due on an initial loan of $1,000,000. The loan is repayable in 
one hundred and twenty monthly instalments of principal of $8,333, the final installment 
being due in June 2021.

(e) This represents the balance of an initial loan at $2,000,000. The loan is repayable in one 
hundred and twenty monthly instalments of principal of $16,667, the final installment 
being due on June 2021.

(f) This represents the cost incurred in obtaining certain loans from RBC Royal Bank 
(Jamaica) Limited. The cost is being written off over the period of the loans on the 
effective interest basis.

These loans are secured by:

 Personal guarantee of a director limited to $10,000,000.

 Demand debentures over fixed and floating assets amounting to $14,112,000 and 
J$50,000,000.

 First demand mortgage over commercial property located at Montego Bay Freeport for 
$1,000,000.

 Subordination agreement in the amount of $6,000,000 in respect of an inter-company loan 
(see note 14).

 Corporate guarantee of Hull Investments Limited (related party) to cover $2,000,000.

 Acknowledged assignment of insurance polices in the amount of $17,227,991 over 
commercial properties and other assets.

16. Gross operating revenue

Gross operating revenue represents income from the sale of food, beverages and non-food items 
for the year.

17. Disclosure of income/(expenses)
2012 2011

(a) Other operating income/(expenses), net:

Foreign exchange gains 4,698 16,352
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 12,447 15,760
Others ( 35,671) ( 37,997)

$( 18,526) ( 5,885)
(b) Finance income:

Interest income - third party $ 1,761 2,777
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17. Disclosure of income/(expenses (cont’d)

2012 2011

(c) Finance costs:

Long-term loan interest - related companies 1,012,762 1,097,889
Short-term loan interest - third party 535,691 460,488
Overdraft interest 2,216 135,720

$1,550,669 1,694,097

(d) Statutory disclosures:

Profit before taxation is stated after charging:
2012 2011

$ $

Staff costs 5,089,692 4,635,316
Impairment allowance on investment 49,452 -
Directors’ emoluments 291,503 177,000
Auditors’ remuneration 28,750 26,900

Staff costs include salaries, wages, other staff benefits and emoluments and the company’s
payroll contributions. 

18. Taxation 
2012 2011

(a) Income tax charge:
Current year tax at 33⅓% 53,478 737,943

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (note 11) 20,539 179,346

Tax charge recognised in profit for the year $74,017 917,289

(b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate:
Profit before taxation $3,116,072 2,013,424

Computed “expected” tax expense at 33⅓% 1,038,691 671,141
Tax effect of differences between treatment for  
financial statement and taxation purposes:

Non-deductible depreciation 11,666 221
Other items, net 329 245,927
Tax remission [note (c)] ( 976,669) -

$ 74,017 917,289

(c) The company’s shares were listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange 
on July 20, 2011.  Consequently, the company is entitled to a remission of taxes for 10 
years in the proportions set out below, provided the shares remain listed for at least 15 
years:

• Years 1 to 5 - 100%
• Years 6 to 10 - 50%
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19. Earnings per stock unit

Earnings per stock unit is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue for the year of 1,088,579,235 shares (2011: 880,000,000). 
The weighted average number of shares for the previous year reflects the issue of 499,000 bonus 
shares and the 1,760:1 split in the number of shares in issue at June 1, 2011.

2012 2011

Issued ordinary shares at beginning of year 880,000,000 1,000
Effect of bonus shares issued - 499,000
Effect of share split during the year - 879,500,000
Effect of shares issued during the year 208,579,235 -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares held 
during the year $1,088,579,235 880,000,000

20. Related party transactions

The profit for the year includes the following (income)/expense and transactions with related 
parties in the ordinary course of business:

2012 2011
$ $

Sales (146,191) (  21,469)
Interest expense:

Related parties 240,158 283,943
Companies related by way of common directors 772,604 813,946

Rent paid to a company related by way of common directors 50,400 49,200
Agency fee paid to a company related by way of a common 

director 930,000 930,000
Compensation for key management:

Short-term benefits 357,812 340,300

21. Lease commitments

At June 30, 2012, there were unexpired operating lease commitments in relation to leasehold 
property, payable as follows:

2012 2011

Within one year 473,685 50,900
Between one and five years 1,763,956 190,300

$2,237,641 241,200

During the year, the total operating lease expenses recognised amounted to $437,727 (2011:
$346,618).
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22. Contingent liabilities 

(a) In 2007, the Valuation Audit Unit of the Jamaica Customs Department conducted an audit 
relating to 2004 and submitted a claim for Special Consumption Tax (SCT) and General 
Consumption Tax (GCT) amounting to approximately $298,051 (J$26,436,145) to which 
the company has objected. The directors are of the opinion that it is unlikely that the 
Revenue Protection Division will prove any significant portion of this claim. Therefore, 
no provision has been made in the financial statements.

(b) The company has issued counter-indemnities in support of contingent liabilities held with 
RBC Royal Bank (Jamaica) Limited for amounts totaling $251,600 and $124,665
(J$11,057,345).

23. Capital commitments

As at June 30, 2012, the company had commitments in respect of capital expenditure totaling 
$2,110,475 of which expenditure to the reporting date amounted to $674,436.

24. Dividends

On May 8, 2012, the directors declared a dividend of J$0.05 per share amounting to $628,846 
(J$55,000,000).

25. Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management:

The company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk;
• liquidity risk; and
• market risk.

This note presents information about the company’s exposure to each of the above risks, 
the company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and 
the company’s management of capital.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of 
the company’s risk management framework. 

The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by 
the company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to 
reflect changes in market conditions and the company’s activities. The Board of Directors 
has monitoring oversight of the risk management policies.

(i) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty 
to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.
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25. Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a) Financial risk management (cont’d):

(i) Credit risk (cont’d):

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was represented by 
the carrying value of financial assets in the statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents

The company limits its exposure to credit risk by placing cash resources with 
substantial counterparties who are believed to have minimal risk of default.

Accounts receivable

The company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual 
characteristics of each customer. The demographics of the customer base, including 
the default risk of the industry in which customers operate, has less of an influence 
on credit risk. The company does not require collateral in respect of trade and other 
receivables. 

Trade receivables mainly consist of balances due from retail and hospitality 
customers across Jamaica. Apart from the concentration of customers in Jamaica, 
the company does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single 
counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics.  

The company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate 
of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables. The allowances for 
doubtful debts are based on the ageing of the receivables, with allowance made for 
balances outstanding for over 180 days. The company also provides for receivables 
that are overdue for less than this time period, based on information that the 
receivable balance is uncollectible.

There were no changes in the company’s approach to managing credit risk during 
the year.

(ii) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a 
financial asset at, or close to, its fair value. Prudent liquidity risk management 
implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

Management of the company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate liquid 
financial assets with appropriate terms and currencies, together with committed 
financing to meet all contractual obligations and operational cash flows, including 
the servicing of its long-term liabilities.
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25. Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a) Financial risk management (cont’d):

(ii) Liquidity risk (cont’d):

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost, including interest payments. The tables show the undiscounted cash 
flows of non-derivative financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
company can be required to pay.

2012
Carrying Contractual 1 year 
amount cash flows or less 2-9 years

Short-term loans 6,000,000 6,390,000 6,390,000 -
Accounts payable 4,571,729 4,571,729 4,571,729 -
Due to related parties 3,916,667 4,227,166 4,227,166 -
Related party loans 8,614,493 10,073,932 - 10,073,932
Long-term loans 3,045,313 4,167,405 640,180 3,527,225

Total financial liabilities $26,148,202 29,430,232 15,829,075 13,601,157

2011
Carrying Contractual 1 year 
amount cash flows or less 2-9 years

Short-term loans 6,205,000 6,639,350 6,639,350 -
Accounts payable 4,555,094 4,555,094 4,555,094 -
Due to related parties 3,646,667 3,922,766 3,922,766 -
Related party loans 9,143,338 10,198,099 - 10,198,099
Long-term loans 3,922,720 5,005,445 938,040 4,067,405

Total financial liabilities $27,472,819 30,320,754 16,055,250 14,265,504

There were no changes to the company’s approach to liquidity risk management 
during the year.

(iii) Market risk:

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. These arise mainly 
from changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates and will affect the 
company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  
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25. Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a) Financial risk management (cont’d):

(iii) Market risk (cont’d):

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on assets. The 
nature of the company’s exposures to market risk and its objectives, policies and 
processes for managing these risks have not changed significantly over the prior 
year. For each of the major components of market risk, the company has policies 
and procedures in place which detail how the risk is managed and monitored. The 
management of each of these major components of market risk and the exposure of 
the company at the reporting date to each major risk are addressed below.

Derivative financial instruments are not used to reduce exposure to fluctuations in 
interest and foreign exchange rates.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 
to changes in market interest rates. 

The company materially contracts financial liabilities at fixed interest rates. These 
primarily relate to bank overdrafts and loans which are subject to interest rates fixed 
in advance, but which may be varied with appropriate notice by the lenders. At the 
reporting date, financial liabilities subject to interest, aggregated $21,163,157
(2011: $22,417,725).

Interest-bearing financial assets are primarily represented by cash and cash 
equivalents, which are contracted at various interest rates.  At the reporting date, 
financial assets subject to third party interest is $594,039 (2011: $709,602).

Sensitivity analysis 

At the reporting date, the company only has fixed-rate financial assets and liabilities 
carried at amortised cost. Therefore, changes in market interest rates will neither 
affect the cash flow nor the carrying amount of the instruments.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The company incurs foreign 
currency risk primarily on receivables, purchases and borrowings that are
denominated in a currency other than the United States dollar. The principal foreign 
currency risks of the company are denominated in Jamaica dollar (JMD).
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25. Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a) Financial risk management (cont’d):

(iii) Market risk (cont’d):

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

The company ensures that the risk is kept to an acceptable level by monitoring its 
risk exposure and by maintaining funds in JMD as a hedge against adverse 
fluctuations in exchange rates.

At the reporting date, net foreign currency assets of the company are as follows:

2012 2011
JMD JMD

Cash and cash equivalents 6,283,743 13,158,296
Accounts receivable 169,257,119 210,462,077
Accounts payable (153,597,551) (191,263,393)

Net foreign currency asset 21,943,311 32,356,980

Exchange rates for the JMD, in comparison to the United States dollar, were:

JMD

June 30, 2012: $88.20
June 30, 2011: $85.54

Sensitivity analysis

A 1% strengthening/weakening of the Jamaica dollar against the US$ at June 30
would have increased/decreased profit for the year and equity by US$2,488 (2011:
US$3,783). This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest 
rates, remain constant.  

(b) Capital risk management:

The company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders.  The directors 
of the company seek to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain shareholder and 
creditor confidence.  The company defines capital as total shareholders’ equity.  

Management of the company is responsible for monitoring the company’s adherence to 
loan covenants on a timely basis and also to obtain relevant approvals from the bank 
before certain decisions are finalised.

There were no changes in the company’s approach to capital management during the year. 
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25. Financial instruments (cont’d)

(c) Fair value disclosures:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable 
are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their relatively short-term nature.
Long-term liabilities are carried at their contracted settlement value based on commercial 
terms. Amounts due to related parties/companies, are considered to approximate their 
carrying value due to their short-term nature, and/or an ability to effect future set-offs in 
the amounts disclosed.

26. Prior year adjustment

The company in prior years had recognised its interest in joint venture at cost. In accordance
with IFRS, the company has restated its financial statements to recognise its interest in the joint 
venture (note 9) using the equity method.  The adjustment had the following effect on the 
statement of financial position as at June 30, 2010 and 2011 and statement of comprehensive 
income for the year ended June 30, 2011.  

(a) Statement of financial position

2010 2011
As previously As previously

reported Adjustment As restated reported Adjustment As restated

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 803,854       -      803,854 871,251 -      871,251
Accounts receivable 12,280,961       -      12,280,961 9,267,837 -      9,267,837
Inventories 12,559,025       -      12,559,025 15,791,277       -      15,791,277

25,643,840       -      25,643,840 25,930,365       -      25,930,365

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Short-term loans 3,800,000       -      3,800,000 6,205,000 -      6,205,000
Accounts payable 6,753,380       -      6,753,380 4,555,094 -      4,555,094
Due to related parties 3,646,667       -      3,646,667 3,646,667 -      3,646,667
Current portion of long-term loans 479,731       -      479,731 790,723 -      790,723
Taxation payable      363,906       -           363,906      818,071       -           818,071

15,043,684       -      15,043,684 16,015,555       -      16,015,555

NET CURRENT ASSETS 10,600,156       -      10,600,156 9,914,810 -      9,914,810

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interest in joint venture 582,098 (148,872) 433,226 461,025 (177,402) 283,623
Investment 78,250       -      78,250 49,452 -      49,452
Deferred tax asset 182,286       -      182,286 2,940 -      2,940
Property, plant and equipment   4,066,827       -        4,066,827   5,074,884       -        5,074,884

  4,909,461 (148,872)   4,760,589   5,588,301 (177,402)   5,410,899

15,509,617 (148,872) 15,360,745 15,503,111 (177,402) 15,325,709

EQUITY
Share capital 30       -      30 5,874 -      5,874
Accumulated surplus   2,103,081 (148,872)   1,954,209   3,221,902 (177,402)   3,044,500

2,103,111 (148,872) 1,954,239 3,227,776 (177,402) 3,050,374
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Related party loans 12,663,885       -      12,663,885 9,143,338 -      9,143,338
Long-term loans      742,621       -           742,621   3,131,997       -        3,131,997

13,406,506     -      13,406,506 12,275,335       -      12,275,335

$15,509,617 (148,872) 15,360,745 15,503,111 (177,402) 15,325,709
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26. Prior year adjustment (cont’d)

(b) Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended June 30, 2011.

As previously
reported Adjustment As restated

Gross operating revenue 63,943,298 - 63,943,298

Cost of operating revenue (48,525,466) - (48,525,466)

Gross profit 15,417,832 - 15,417,832

Selling and administration expenses (10,835,999) - (10,835,999)

Depreciation (     842,674) - (     842,674)

Other operating expenses, net ( 5,885) - ( 5,885)

Operating profit 3,733,274 - 3,733,274

Finance income 2,777 - 2,777

Finance costs (  1,694,097) - (  1,694,097)

Share of loss of joint venture - (28,530) ( 28,530)

Profit before taxation 2,041,954 (28,530) 2,013,424

Taxation ( 917,289) - ( 917,289)

Profit for the year, being total 
comprehensive income $ 1,124,665 (28,530) 1,096,135

Earnings per stock unit 0.13¢ 0.12¢
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